

Pivot Grids User Guide

8.1.3 Release

Copyright © 2023 OneStream Software LLC. All rights reserved.

Any warranty with respect to the software or its functionality will be expressly given in the Subscription License Agreement or Software License and Services Agreement between OneStream and the warrantee. This document does not itself constitute a representation or warranty with respect to the software or any related matter.

OneStream Software, OneStream, Extensible Dimensionality and the OneStream logo are trademarks of OneStream Software LLC in the United States and other countries. Microsoft, Microsoft Azure, Microsoft Office, Windows, Windows Server, Excel, .NET Framework, Internet Information Services, Windows Communication Foundation and SQL Server are registered trademarks or trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the United States and/or other countries. DevExpress is a registered trademark of Developer Express, Inc. Cisco is a registered trademark of Cisco Systems, Inc. Intel is a trademark of Intel Corporation. AMD64 is a trademark of Advanced Micro Devices, Inc. Other names may be trademarks of their respective owners.

Table of Contents

Pivot Grid Overview	1
Design and Use Considerations	2
Table Size	2
Server and Client Location	2
Financial Intelligence	2
Pivot Grid Component Settings	
General (Component)	3
Name	
Description	3
Workspaces and Maintenance Unit	3
Component Type	4
Pivot Grid	4
Row and Column Fields	4
Show Toggle Size Button	4
Row Fields	4
Column Fields	4
Data Fields	4
Field Groups	5
Save State	

Data Adapters	5
Using the Pivot Grid	7
Saving Preferences	7
Layout Controls	7
Hidden Fields	8
Filter Header Area	
Row Header Area	
Column Header Area	8
Data Header Area	9
Moving a Field to the Pivot Grid	9
Sort and filter data	9
Defer Layout Update	9
Pivot Grid Settings	10
Save and Restore	
Context Menu Options	11
Pivot Grid Component Conditional Formatting	
Expression Editor Capabilities	
Current Expression	
Error Panel	
Categories Panel	

Change the Name of a Calculated Field	
Data Adapters Command Type Details	
Cube View	
Cube View MD	
Method Query	
SQL	

Pivot Grid Overview

The **Pivot Grid** Standard (Windows App Only) new Component within the Dashboard Maintenance Unit that allows you to create a pivot table, utilizing data from any existing and new Data Adapters to perform multi-dimensional analysis. At runtime, the user can customize the layout of the report using simple drag-and-drop operations and conditional formatting based on their analysis requirements. In the Pivot Grid, data can be summarized, calculated fields (text and decimal) can be added and displayed in a cross-tabular format that can be sorted, grouped and filtered. The Pivot Grid also supports drill-down (to view the underlying Data Adapter Results Table). The resulting output can be printed or exported to various file formats (such as PDF, XLS and XLSX).

The Pivot Grid uses the entire table contents from the Data Adapter that is returned to the client machine. The **Pivot Grid** can handle much larger data sets compared to Adapter based "standard" **Pivot Grid**. The **Paging** controls allow the pivoting to be efficiently managed for the client. The **Pivot Grid Component** can be used to better analyze data utilizing functionality such as data filtering, value formatting, sorting and grouping data.

Conditional Formatting is also supported here to allow the user to change the appearance of individual cells based on specific conditions to help with further analyzing the data. This feature helps to highlight important information, identify trends and exceptions, and compare data using the collection of format rules. The user can change appearances of Pivot Grid Control cells depending upon cell data or an expression.

The user can manage the Pivot Grid layout by changing the layout of fields, measure, adding calculated items and groups.

At runtime the user can **Save** the Pivot Grid as they make changes and then choose to **Restore** back to the original component settings when needed.

Also, at runtime the user has the choices of Printing and Exporting data displayed within the Pivot Grid. Data can be exported and printed from a Pivot Grid to a file or various file formats (such as PDF, XLS and XLSX).

Design and Use Considerations

Table Size

Although the Pivot Grid is designed to handle a large amount of data, the overall performance consists on query execution time, data load time and data rendering time. Internal testing has shown acceptable performance rates on tables of 100k records.

Server and Client Location

Pivot Grid is supported only in OneStream Windows Application and uses any tableset from a Data Adapter.

Financial Intelligence

The Component is retrieving the table records and aggregating the results of the table. There is no concept of Financial Intelligence that other OneStream reporting tools present when reporting OneStream Application results. Designers and users must understand their source data to ensure Pivot Grid aggregations and totals defined are appropriate. For example, an aggregation of revenue and expense accounts may be incorrect depending upon the format of the data.

Pivot Grid Component Settings

The Pivot Grid is a standalone component that can be used within a Dashboard. It can be added by selecting Create Dashboard Component within the Application Dashboards section.

${\mathfrak O}$ Application Dashboards - piv_SalesByRegionandProduct (Component)									
🗂 🚥 🔥 📔 🕼 🐺 🖹 🗐 🗮 🗶 🚱 🖓 🖓 🖓 🖓 👘 👘 🍐 🌾 👘 👘 👘 👘									
Dashboard Maintenance Units Component Properties Data Adapters									
🗠 🛗 1) Bl Viewer Designer Sample	General (Component)								
 Dashboard Groups Commonweater 	Name	piv_SalesByRegionandProduct							
Components	Description	SalesByRegionByProducts Pivot							
Data Explorer Penert	Maintenance Unit	1) BI Viewer Designer Sample							
	Component Type	Pivot Grid (Windows App Only)							
Grid View	Pivot Grid								
	Show Toggle Size Button	True							
Pivot Grid	Row Fields	UD2							
w piv_SalesByRegionandProduct	Column Fields	Time							
► Data Adapters	Data Fields	Amount							
Parameters	Field Groups								
- Files	Save State	True							
Strings									

General (Component)

Name

The name of the Dashboard.

Description

A quick description of the Dashboard.

Workspaces and Maintenance Unit

The Workspace that contains the maintenance unit. The Maintenance Unit to which the Data Adapter belongs.

Component Type

The type of Component being used in the Dashboard.

Pivot Grid

Row and Column Fields

The Row and Column fields are used to set a default Pivot Grid layout. Once the Pivot Grid is displayed, the user can modify the layout by drag and drop of any available Dimensions. Selecting the **Save** option will retain the modified layout preference, by user, overriding the default. The **Restore** option will return the Pivot Grid to its default layout established in the Properties section.

Default assignments of Rows, Columns and Data Field must reflect the source table column names which represent the Dimension fields. Multiple Dimensions can be assigned using a comma separator.

Show Toggle Size Button

Select *True* to enable the toggle button and allow users to toggle the size of the Component at run time, select *False* to hide the toggle button.

Row Fields

Enter a comma separated list of Column Names (from the Results Table) to be place in the Row Area of the Pivot Grid by default.

Column Fields

Enter a comma separated list of Column Names (from the Results Table) to be place in the Column Area of the Pivot Grid by default.

Data Fields

Add a Measure (from the Results Table) to be assigned as the default Measure. Multiple measures can be added using a comma "," to separate the column names.

Field Groups

Enter a comma separated list of Column Names (from the Results Table) to be grouped together as a default.

Save State

Enables the Save Button on the Pivot Grid when set to True and Disables the Save buuto when set to False.

NOTE: Layout button on Pivot Grid when copying Dashboard that contains a Pivot Grid, the Pivot Grid component layouts are saved per dashboard location, not by component. Next time each dashboard is run the Pivot Grids should have different saved layouts.

Data Adapters

Data Adapters specify the kind of data used within a Pivot Grid for the Dashboard. Once the Data Adapter is configured and pointing to the desired data, attach it to a Pivot Grid Dashboard Component in order to display it in a Dashboard.

3

Create Dashboard Data Adapter Use this to create a Data Adapter to assign to a Component.

General Properties

Name The name of the Data Adapter.

Description

A quick description of the Data Adapter.

Maintenance Unit

The Maintenance Unit to which the Data Adapter belongs.

There are three command types:

Click 📫 in the Dashboard toolbar to attach the appropriate Data Adapter.

Table of Contents

NOTE: When using a Cube View as the source for the Data Adapter, the Cube View MD Command Type is recommended for a simplified view of the data.

Using the Pivot Grid

At runtime, the user can customize the layout of the report using simple drag-and-drop operations and conditional formatting based on their analysis requirements. In the Pivot Grid, data can be summarized, calculated fields (text and decimal) can be added and displayed in a cross-tabular format that can be sorted, grouped and filtered. The Pivot Grid also supports drill-down (to view the underlying Data Adapter Results Table). The resulting output cab be printed or exported to various file formats (such as PDF, XLS and XLSX).

Saving Preferences

Users can modify the layout of the Pivot Grid from the defined default. Choosing the **Save** button will retain the modified layout as a user preference. The **Reset** button will revert any saved preferences back to the Component's default.

Save	Save and Revert Layout Preferences						
👼 Hidden Fields 🔠	۲.		Houston				
 Dimensions 	1	2000_100 Total	\$52,601.24				
Se Account Type		Drivors	¢ 26 300 63				

Layout Controls

Users can modify the user interface displaying the Layout components.

Field Location and Order



The Pivot Grid provides four areas where the data source fields (dimensions and measures) can be located; Hidden Fields, Filter Area, Row Area, Column Area and Data Area. Users can change a field's location or order via drag-and-drop.

Hidden Fields

Contains fields, which allow users to apply filtering to the entire Pivot Grid.

Filter Header Area

Contains filter fields, which allow users to apply filtering to the entire Pivot Grid.

Row Header Area

Contains row fields. The values of these fields are listed along the grid's left edge and represent row headers.

Column Header Area

Contains column fields. The values of these fields are listed along the grid's top edge and represent column headers.

Data Header Area

Contains data fields - the fields against which summaries are calculated. The summary results are displayed within the Data Area.

Moving a Field to the Pivot Grid

Move a field to a specific area by dragging its header between the Form's area boxes.

Sort and filter data

You can toggle the sort order of fields by clicking their headers in the Form Area boxes and invoke filter popup windows via the filter buttons.

Defer Layout Update

Check the Defer Layout Update check box to Delay layout updates, then drag fields between the areas and click the Update button to apply changes.

🎞 Ro	ow Area		Σ	Data A	rea	
1102	9		A	nount		
003	✓ (Show	All)				î
	New Ye	ork				
	✓ Orego	n				
	✓ Califor	nia				
	✓ Other :	South	wes	t		
	New N	lexico				1
	✓ Texas					
	✓ Arizon	а				
	✓ Other	Midwe	est			
	✓ Illinois					
	V Ohio					٠
		OK		Cancel		
·		UN		cancer		đ
🗌 De	efer Layout	Upda	te		Update	

Pivot Grid Settings

The Pivot Grid Component can be modified for additional user preferences by right-clicking the property box in the upper left of the grid. This allows the user to add global filters using the **Show Prefilter**, activate **Totals** for Groupings and Aggregations, and provide **Exports** file outputs.

Save and Restore

Users can modify the layout of the Pivot Grid at runtime. Choosing the **Save** button will retain the changes made by the user. The **Restore** button will restore any saved changes made by the user back to the Component Properties default settings.

Save State setting on the Pivot Grid Component Proptery; True / False.

Enables the Save Button on the Pivot Grid when set to True and Disables the Save buuto when set to False.

When copying a Dashboard that contains a Pivot, the Pivot Grid layout are saved per dashboard location, not by component. Next time each dashboard is run the Pivot Grids should have different saved layouts.

Pivot Grid Save State Option

Component Properties	Data Adapters	
General (Component)		
Name		piv_SalesbyProducts
Description		SalesByProducts Pivot
Maintenance Unit	1) Splash Madrid 2019 Design	
Component Type		Pivot Grid (Windows App Onl
Pivot Grid		
Show Toggle Size But	ton	True
Row Fields		UD2
Column Fields		Time
Data Fields		Amount
Field Groups		
Save State		True

Changes to layout; When the Save State is set to True, the Save Button becomes enabled and any canges to the layout can be saved. Otherwise the layout will reset to original settings.

H 5				Sal	esByProducts Pive	ot
😼 Hidden Fields	±.	•		Jan 2018	Feb 2018	Mar 2018
Account		1	Drivers	10,646,779.37	25,552,270.48	42,587,117.47
CalcScript		IJ	Fairway Woods	7,281,704.15	17,476,089.97	29,126,840.61
Cons			Hybrids	9,019,353.21	21,644,531.19	36,175,362.09
Cube			Iron Sets	7,999,497.51	19,196,859.16	31,967,647.14
EndDate			Wedges	8,234,092.85	19,761,822.85	33,069,117.58
Entity		•	Putters	8,615,527.96	20,672,067.73	34,380,574.36
- Filter Area	 El Column Area		Grand Total	51,796,955.06	124,303,641.38	207,306,659.25
📰 Row Area	∑ Data Area					
UD2 •	Amount					
Defer Layout Upd	ate Update					

Context Menu Options

There are several context menus in the Pivot Grid that provide the user with layout options to modify:

Show Prefilter

The **Prefilter** allows the user to modify the records being returned to the Large Data Pivot Grid. The designer should consider any existing filters defined as a default on the Component Properties. For example the **Filter** Area may have dimensions assigned with initial filtering defined. The benefit of the Prefilter is the setting is not specific to a Dimension Filter assigned to the Row, Column, Hidden or Filter Area. This enables the Dimensions to be freely pivoted between the Fields and Layout areas, while permanently maintaining the filter. The Prefilter Dialog box will apply filters by defining the **Dimension, Operator** and **Object**.



Totals (Show/Hide)

Creates automatic totals for Row/column grand totals which display summary totals calculated against all the rows/columns.as well as Row/Column totals which display sub-totals calculated for outer row/column fields.

${\mathfrak O}$ Dashboard - SalesAnalysisDashboardExample										
T										
Sales Analysis Example	SalesByRegion	ByProducts Pivot								
H S										
뒄 Hidden Fields	⊞ •		C	Reload Data				Feb 2018	Mar 2018	
Account	î		Ŷ	Show Prefilter				\$24,247.82	\$36,7	89.80
CalcScript				Totals			۲	 Show Column G 	rand Totals	42.16
Cons				Print Preview				 Show Row Gran 	d Totals	79.60
Cube				Add Calculated	Field As	Text	۲	 Show Column To 	otals	00.47
EndDate				Add Calculated	Field As	Decimal		 Show Row Total 	S	77.05
Entity				Exports			٠Ļ	\$69,557.60	\$155,5	11.05
	•		We	edges SL		\$17,977.	64	\$47,395.60	\$71,9	10.56

- Show Column Grand Totals Creates automatic totals for Column grand totals which display summary totals calculated against all the Columns
- Show Row Grand Totals Creates automatic totals for Row grand totals which display summary totals calculated against all the Rows

- Show Column Totals Column totals which display sub-totals calculated for outer Column fields.
- Show Row Totals Row totals which display sub-totals calculated for outer Row fields.

Print Preview

Add Calculated Field as Text

- On the Column provides the ability to add additional fields to the Column and/or groupings based on the data source. Invokes the Expression Editor (see Expression Editor Capabilities section at the end of this document) which provides the capability to create and edit expressions. The expression editor supports numerous standard functions and operators that allow you to perform different string, date-time, logical and math operations over data.
- On the Row provides the ability to add additional fields to the Row and/or groupings based on the data source. Invokes the Expression Editor which provides the capability to create and edit expressions. The expression editor supports numerous standard functions and operators that allow you to perform different string, date-time, logical and math operations over data.

Add Calculated Field as Decimal

• Provides the ability to add additional fields as Data to the Data Area and/or groupings based on the data source. Invokes the Expression Editor which provides the capability to create and edit expressions. The expression editor supports numerous standard functions and operators that allow you to perform different string, date-time, logical and math operations over data.

Exports

		C	Reload	i Data	- • -	٦	18	Mar 2018	Apr 20
	Wedge	Ŷ	Show F	Prefilter	-	\$24,247.82	\$36,789.80		
	Mach5			Totals			692,007.31	\$1,049,942.16	\$1
	Wedge		Print P	review			\$48,495.64	\$73,579.60	
	Mach1		Add Ca	alculated Field As Text	•	•	444,886.67	\$675,000.47	1
	Elite		Add Ca	dd Calculated Field As Decimal			¢ 90 257 60	\$125 577 05	1
			Exports	S	٢	Export	To Excel As WYSIWYO	5 -	
	Wedge	S SL		\$17,977.64			Export	To Excel As Data-Awa	are
	Iron SL Soft Touch			\$61,257.14		\$	Export	To PDF	4
				\$23,679.64	\$23,679.64 Export To 0		To CSV	1	

- Export To Excel As WYSIWYG
- Export To Excel as Data-Aware
 - Data Grouping you can collapse/expand groups within a worksheet.
 - ° Fixed Headers column and row areas stay in sight.
 - ° Cells Formatting retains the number format.
 - Display Text/Value export you can select whether to export display text or values.
- Export To PDF Exports the pivot grid to the specified file path in PDF format.
- Export To CSV Exports the pivot grid to the specified file path in CSV format.
- Excel WYSIWYG Provides a static presentation of the current Pivot Grid
- **Excel Data Aware –** Provides an Excel file Pivot definitions converted to interactive Excel functions, such as Groupings.
- PDF PDF printable file
- CSV All Dimension fields will be separated into CSV formatted fields

Pivot Grid Component Conditional Formatting

The Pivot Grid Component supports **Conditional Formatting** applied to the data cells to provide graphical context to the data. Formatting options range from coloring/shading to indicator icon sets, all of which are fully customizable using the **Manage Rules** menu choice. The user can invoke Conditional Formatting by right-clicking on a cell in the Pivot Grid

		Houston	
	Drivers	\$25,200,52	
4 2000_100	Mach10	\$3,995.U	
	Mach5	\$22,305.59 Data Bars	•
		Color Scales	•
		1 Icon Sets	•
		👯 Clear Rules	•
		📲 Manage Rules	

Expression Editor Capabilities

This topic describes Expression Editor capabilities. The following image demonstrates the expression editor's elements:



Current Expression

The expression editor contains an input box that allows you to edit expressions. The expression editor supports syntax highlighting and intelligent code completion (suggesting functions as you type) features that help you edit expressions.

NOTE: When editing expressions in the expression editor, columns/fields are referred to by **display names** enclosed in square brackets.

Autocomplete Window

When you are editing an expression, the expression editor shows the autocomplete window - a popup that lists available operators, functions, and columns. Press **Ctrl+Space** to invoke this window.

If you select an item in the autocomplete window, this window invokes a tooltip that displays information about the selected item:

Round([Unit	t Price] * [Quantity] -	To)		
		i Total	^	decimal Total
		🗲 Today()		Category: Columns
		🗲 ToDecimal()		
		🗲 ToDouble()		
Invalid column:	'To'.	🗲 ToFloat()		
		f ToInt()		Autocomplete Window
		🗲 ToLong()	~	
Columns	Enter text to search			
Constants	Discount			

Error Panel

If an expression contains any errors, the editor immediately highlights them in place and presents them in the error panel:

Round([Unit Price] * [Quantity] - [To	
Malformed property name: missing closing "]".	Error Panel

Categories Panel

A panel that lists available items divided into Columns, Constants, Functions, and Operators groups.

Available Items Panel

A panel that lists items in the selected category.

Search Panel

A panel that allows you to search for items in the selected category.

Item Description Panel

A panel that shows a description of the item selected in the available items panel.

The Large Pivot Grid is a standalone Component which can be used within a Dashboard.

Change the Name of a Calculated Field

- 1. Right-click a calculated field and click Rename Calculated Field.
- 2. Enter the new name and click **OK**.

								SalesByProducts	Pivet							
Hidden Fields	H *		Jan 2018		Feb 2018		Mar 2018		Apr 2018		May 2018		Jun 2018		147.2018	
Account .		i	Amount.	Melanie	Amount	Melarie	Amount	Melanie	Amount	Melanie	Ampunt	Melanie	Amount	Melania :	Amount	Melani
Dekstoriet		Drivers	10,646,779.37	6.00	23.552,270.48	0.00	42,587,517.47	0.00	38,298,631.84	0.00	53.318.027.77	6.0	64,445,217.07		00 72,857,063,2	5
Cone		Fairway Woods	7,281,704.15	0.00	17,476,000.97	0.00	29,126,840.61	0.00	28,315,982.92	0.00	40,174,813.37	0.0	48,401,389.60		00 54,453,813,3	0
iube		Hybrids	0.0[5,153.21	0.00	21,644,531,19	0.00	36,175,562.09	0.00	45,222,058.47	0.00	80,283,332.03	0.0	71,810,062.54	1	00 81,826,455.5	8
indDate		Von Sats	7,999,497,51	0.00	18,196,859.16	8.00	31,967,647.14	0.00	\$7,822,744.52	0.00	51,067,805.62	50	61,526,198.90		00 78,319,380.4	4
rety		• Wedges	8,234,092.85	0.00	12,761,822,85	0.00	33,069,117.58	0,00	28,109,472.65	0.00	38,273,899.96	0.0	45,271,257.68		00 50,416,373.8	5
Filter Area	Column Area	Putters	8,615,527.96	0.00	29,672,067.73	0.00	\$4,380,574,36	0.00	22,819,968.77	0.00	32,377,049,70	0.0	39,000,493,62	4	43,884,555.3	2)
	Time -	Grand Total	31,796,933.06	0.00	124,003,641,38	0.00	207,206,659.25	0.00	201,768,859,16	0.00	275,692,525,45	0.0	120,464,019,41		00 373,759,661.5	8
003 •	2 Data Area Amount Metanie Prote A	Ispressen Latter Ioname Catulated Field														

Data Adapters Command Type Details

Cube View

Choose a Cube View as the source of a Data Adapter. Additional options can be selected here to include supplemental information for the resulting tables. However, adding on to what is defaulted may have a slight impact on performance:

Cube View

This command type allows for a pre-configured Cube View to be the Data Source for a

Dashboard. Click and begin typing the name of the Cube View in the blank field. As the first few letters are typed, the names are filtered making it easier to find and select the one desired. If the name is unknown, expand a Cube View Group and scroll through the list to select the correct one. Once the Cube View is selected, hit *CTRL* and *Double Click*. This will enter the correct name into the appropriate field.

Data Table Per Cube View Row

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to *True*. When set to *True*, a Data Table is created for each row in the Dashboard. This allows for conditional formatting per Cube View row. Set this to *False* in order to merge the rows into one table. This will omit any undefined Cube View row.

Include Title

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to False. When set to True, the title will be displayed from the Report section of the Cube View as the title for the Dashboard. Settings are True or False.

Include Header Left Label 1-4

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to *False*. When set to *True*, the left header labels will be displayed from the report section of the Cube View for the Dashboard.

Include Header Center Label 1-4

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to *False*. When set to *True*, the center header labels will be displayed from the report section of the Cube View for the Dashboard.

Include Header Right Label 1-4

At creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to *False*. When set to *True*, the right header labels will be displayed from the report section of the Cube View for the Dashboard.

Include... POV

If set to *True*, the POV information for the Cube, Entity and all other Dimensions are included. Use these if the report or Dashboard needs this information.

Include Member Details

If set to True, additional Member property details are included in the results.

Include Row Navigation Link

If set to *True*, this data Adapter will include a row navigation link from a Cube View.

Include HasData Status

Includes additional true/false data on whether or not the row of results contains data for filtering purposes. Settings are True or False.

Include ... View Member Text

This determines whether or not different Data Attachment text is going to be part of the results. This is necessary for showing text in a *Data Explorer* object or for using a *Waterfall Chart* and wanting to optionally show comments. Settings are True or False.

Results Table Name

This specifies the name of the resulting table generated when the Data Adapter is run, otherwise it will default with a name of *Table*.

Cube View MD

Choose a Cube View MD (Multi-Dimensional) as the source of a Data Adapter. This Command Type will return the selected Cube View as a Multi-Dimensional Fact Table versus the reporting table that is returned by the Cube View Command Type. The results of the Cube View MD are Dimensions (Entity, Consolidation, Scenario, time, View, Account, Flow, Origin, IC, UD1-UD8) as columns. This simplifies the report building process in the BI Designer, Pivot Grid, and Dashboard development. There are additional Loop Parameter options that can be selected here to include incremental information from the modified Cube View definition in the resulting tables. Adding on to what is defaulted, however, may have a slight impact on performance.

Cube View MD Data Adapter example

		Admin, GolfStreamDemo_v18 (http://localhost.50001/OneStreamWeb)
Ø Application Dashboards - SalesByUD3RegionE	xample_CVMD (Data Adapter)	
🗂 🚥 🔥 🔃 🖾 🖾 🗗 📑 🐺 🗎	E 🗙 🗹 🖓 🖬 I 🐼 I 🕂 🕇 🗸 -	= 12 kar 62 68
🔺 🗂 Dashboard Maintenance Units	 General (Data Adapter) 	
🖌 🛅 1) BI Viewer Designer Sample	Name	SalesByUD3RegionExample_CVMD
A Dashboard Groups	Description	
SalesAnalysisExample	Maintenance Unit	1) BI Viewer Designer Sample
Components	Data Source	
BI Viewer	Command Type	Cube View MD
biv_Sales Analysis Example	Cube View	BI Dashboard Sales2
Embedded Dashboard	Results Table Name	tbl_SalesByUD3RegionExample
Pivot Grid	Miscellaneous	
SQL Table Editor	Add Start End Calendar Time	True
Data Adapters	Header Text	
SalesByUD3RegionExample_CVMD	Entity	Name And Description
Parameters	Consolidation	Name And Description
Files	Scenario	Name And Description
Stringe	Time	Description
1) Splash Madrid 2019 Designer	View	Name And Description
	Account	Name And Description
	Flow	Name And Description
	Origin	Name And Description
Add Dimension Member (ADM)	IC	Name And Description
Balance Sneet Analysis (BA)	UD1	Name And Description
Cash Plan Adjustments	UD2	Name And Description
CashFlow (DCF)	UD3	Name And Description
Demo_Exec_Overview	UD4	Name And Description
DialogTemplate (DLG)	UD5	Name And Description
Driver Based Planning (DBP)	UD6	Name And Description
Dynamic Entity Aggregation	UD7	Name And Description
Dynamic Rates Comparison (DRC)	UD8	Name And Description
External System (Revenue Mgmt Houston)	Loop Parameters	
GolfStream Charts	Dimension Type 1	UD2 (Products)
GolfStream Financial Statements	Member Filter 1	U2#Top.Base.Options(Cube=[Houston])
GolfStream Flash	Dimension Type 2	(Not Used)
GolfStream Parameters	Member Filter 2	

Results Table from the Cube View MD Data Adapter example above

🕖 Data Pre	view - Sal	lesByUD	3Regi	onExample_CVMD																	0 0
Original Quer	у																				
<cubeview> <pagecap <canmod <cancalcu< td=""><td>⊳ ption /> lifyData>tr ulate>true</td><td>rue<td>Modify Iculate</td><td>Data> ></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Î</td></td></cancalcu<></canmod </pagecap </cubeview>	⊳ ption /> lifyData>tr ulate>true	rue <td>Modify Iculate</td> <td>Data> ></td> <td></td> <td>Î</td>	Modify Iculate	Data> >																	Î
Substituted Q	Juery																				
<cubeview> <pagecap <canmod <cancalcu< td=""><td>> ption /> lifyData>tr ulate>true</td><td>rue<td>Modify Iculate</td><td>/Data> ></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Î</td></td></cancalcu<></canmod </pagecap </cubeview>	> ption /> lifyData>tr ulate>true	rue <td>Modify Iculate</td> <td>/Data> ></td> <td></td> <td>Î</td>	Modify Iculate	/Data> >																	Î
Data Table																					
tbl_SalesByU	D3Region	Exam	•																		
Cube	Entity	Parent	Cons		Scenario	Time	StartDate	EndDate	View	Account	Flow	Origin	IC UD1	UD2	UD3	UD4	UD5	UD6	UD7	UD8	Ci Amount
 Houston 	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	New York	Тор	None	None	None	None	9197.44914
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	New Jersey	Тор	None	None	None	None	9197.44914
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Connecticut	Тор	None	None	None	None	9197.44914
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Other Northeast	Тор	None	None	None	None	3065.81638
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Florida	Тор	None	None	None	None	76053.5572
Houston	Houston	1	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Georgia	Тор	None	None	None	None	121685.691
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	South Carolina	Тор	None	None	None	None	76053.5572
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Other Southeast	Тор	None	None	None	None	30421.4229
Houston	Houston	n	USD -	United States of America, Dollars	BudgetV2	Jan 2018	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/31/2018 12:00:00 AM	YTD	2000_100 - Third Party Sales	None	Тор	Тор Тор	Wedge LT	Michigan	Тор	None	None	None	None	61641.8517
			LISD -	United States of America, Dollars	Pudaett/2	Jan 2019	1/1/2018 12:00:00 AM	1/21/2018 12:00:00 AM	VTD	2000 100 - Third Party Sales	None	Top	Ton Ton	Wedge IT	Ohio	Top	None	None	Mana	None	61641 9517

Cube View

This command type allows for a pre-configured Cube View to be the Data Source for a

Dashboard. Click and begin typing the name of the Cube View in the blank field. As the first few letters are typed, the names are filtered making it easier to find and select the one desired. If the name is unknown, expand a Cube View Group and scroll through the list to select the correct one. Once the Cube View is selected, hit *CTRL* and *Double Click*. This will enter the correct name into the appropriate field.

Results Table Name

This specifies the name of the resulting table generated when the Data Adapter is run, otherwise it will default with a name of *Table*. It is optional **but highly recommend that a name is defined here to distinguish between different Data Adapters if there are many assigned when using the BI Designer**.

For example; tbl_OperatingExpenses can be used to identify the Results Table Name and the Name of the Data Adapter (OperatingExpenses_CVMD in this example) associated with this table.

Add Start End Calendar Time

When set to *True*, the Data Table incorporates the Start and End Date used in the POV / Time Profile for the Cube View and creates two additional columns in a Date/Time Field Type Format; StartDate, EndDate for each row in the Dashboard. This allows for the ability to utilize the Date Grouping functions in the BI Designer. Set this to *False* to not add or display these Date Time fields.

Entity

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Entity. When set to Name, the Entity Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Entity Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Consolidation

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Consolidation. When set to Name, the Consolidation Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Consolidation Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Scenario

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Scenario. When set to Name, the Scenario Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Scenario Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Time

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Time. When set to Name, the Time Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Time Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

View

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the View. When set to Name, the View Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the View Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Account

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Account. When set to Name, the Account Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Account Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Flow

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Flow. When set to Name, the Flow Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Flow Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

Origin

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the Origin. When set to Name, the Origin Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the Origin Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

IC

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the IC. When set to Name, the IC Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the IC Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View.

UD1-UD8

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default is set to **Name And Description**. This will display both the Name and Description of the UD1-UD8. When set to Name, the UD1-UD8 Name will be displayed in the results table from the Cube View. When set to Description, the UD1-UD8 Description will be displayed in the results table from the Cube from the Cube View.

Loop Parameters

This section allows changes to be made to the output of a Cube View definition being used in a table for reporting. The Loop Parameter filters the results and considers the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

The parameter(s) overrides the POV. So, if the Entity POV is set to CT, and the loop filter parameters are set to NY, MA, and NJ, then data for those will be returned and NOT CT. A Loop must be used in order to change parameters.

For example, a Loop Parameter may be used to loop through a list of Entities in the Cube View definition and return multiple Entities for that specific Cube View. The Dimension Type and Member Filters should be added here to pass along the appropriate Loop (e.g. Dimension Type=Entity, Member Filter= E#US.Base) which applies to each Entity included in the Loop.

NOTE: It is recommended to not loop on any Dimensions that already exist in the Cube View's rows or columns.

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default for each Dimension Type (1 & 2) are set to (Not Used) and Member Filter (1&2) are greyed out. This will display the results without any consideration of additional parameters to pass to the query. When the Dimension Types are set along with the Member Filters, the results will consider the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

Dimension Type 1

The Dimension Type containing the list of Members. e.g., Entity or Account

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default for each Dimension Type (1 & 2) are set to (Not Used) and Member Filter (1&2) are greyed out. This will display the results without any consideration of additional parameters to pass to the query. When the Dimension Types are set along with the Member Filters, the results will consider the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

Member Filter 1

Enter a Member Filter here to determine what is seen in the Parameter.

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default for each Dimension Type 1 is set to (Not Used) and Member Filter 1 is greyed out. This will display the results without any consideration of additional parameters to pass to the query. When the Dimension Types are set along with the Member Filters, the results will consider the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

The name of the Dimension containing the list of Members. Start typing in the blank field OR click

the ellipsis button in order to launch the Member Script Builder and enter a Member Script to change the Cube View definition. The example below is changing the POV for both the Products and Account.

Example: *UD2; U2#Top.Base*

Dimension Type 2

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default for Dimension Type 2 is set to (Not Used) and Member Filter 2 is greyed out. This will display the results without any consideration of additional parameters to pass to the query. When the Dimension Types are set along with the Member Filters, the results will consider the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

Member Filter 2

Enter a Member Filter here to determine what is seen in the Parameter.

At the creation of the Data Adapter, the default for Dimension Type 2 is set to (Not Used) and Member Filter 2 is greyed out. This will display the results without any consideration of additional parameters to pass to the query. When the Dimension Types are set along with the Member Filters, the results will consider the additional parameters to be passed to the Cube View definition and add those results to the table accordingly.

The name of the Dimension containing the list of Members. Start typing in the blank field OR click

the ellipsis button in order to launch the Member Script Builder and enter a Member Script to change the Cube View definition. The example below is changing the POV for both the Products and Account.

Example: UD2; U2#Top.Base

Method Query

Tip: In order to get an example of the Method Query format, leave the Method Query field blank,

press *Save*, and then press the *Test Data Adapter* icon. The correct way to create the Method Query with an example will show.

Method Type

BusinessRule

Use the Business Rule option when creating a custom rule to incorporate within a Method Query. The Business Rule is used as the first set of {} within the Method Query. Example Method Query: {*XFR_DataUnitCompare*}{*DataUnitComparisonDataSet*} {*Cube1=*|*!Members_Cubes!*|, *Entity1=*|*!Members_Entities_AllDims_Base!*|, *Parent1=*[], *Cons1=*|*!Members_Cons_Statutory!*|, *Scenario1=*|*!Members_Scenarios_AllDims_Base!*|, *Time1=*|*!Members_Time_WFYear_Base!*|, *Cube2=*|*!Members_Cubes!*|, *Entity2=*|*!Members_Entities_AllDims_Base!*|, *Parent2=*[], *Cons2=*|*!Members_Cons_Statutory!*|, *Scenario2=*|*!Members_Scenarios_AllDims_Base_Var!*|, *Time2=*|*!Members_Time_WFYear_Base!*|, *View=*|*!Members_View_Numeric!*|, *SuppressMatches=*|*!DataUnit_SuppressMatches!*]}

CertificationforWorkflowUnit

This lists all Certification Questions for the particular Workflow Unit. Example Method Query: {Workflow Profile Name}{Scenario Name}{Time Name}{Include Descendants}{} or {Dallas}{Actual}{2011M2}{true}{}.

ConfirmationforWorkflowUnit

This lists the Confirmation Rules results for a particular Workflow Unit. Example Method Query: {Workflow Profile Name}{Scenario Name}{Time Name}{Include Descendants}{Filter} or {Montreal}{Actual}{2011M6}{true}{} Name}{Include Descendants}{Filter} or {Montreal}{Actual}{2011M6}{true}{}

DataUnit

This returns all rows of data related to the specified Data Unit (*i.e. Cube, Entity, Parent, Consolidation Member, Scenario, Time and View*). Example Method Query: {*Cube*}{*Entity*}{*Parent*}{*Cons*}{*Scenario*}{*Time*}{*View*} {*True*}{*Empty String or Filter Expression*}

DataUnitComparison

This returns all rows from two different Data Units specified for comparison purposes. Example Method Query: {Cube1}{Entity1}{Parent1}{Cons1}{Scenario1}{Time1} {Cube2}{Entity2}{Parent2}{Cons2}{Scenario2}{Time2}{View}{True}{True}{Empty String or Filter Expression}

FormsStatusForWorkflowUnit

This lists detailed information about the Forms for a particular Workflow Unit. Example Method Query: {*Workflow Profile Name*}{*Scenario Name*}{*Time Name*}{*Form Status*} {*Filter*} or {*Houston*}{*Actual*}{2011M1}{*All*}{

Groups

This returns the Group ID, Name, Description and whether or not this is an Exclusion Group. Method Query Example: {*GroupName* = *'FinanceGroup'*}

GroupsforUsers

Select User properties and all of the Groups to which he/she belongs. This returns the same group properties as the *Group* Method Query. Method Query Example: {*UserName* = '*Administrator*'}{}

ICMatchingforWorkflowUnit

This returns a detailed Intercompany Matching Report table for the given Workflow Unit and several other Parameters. The Parameters here override what is already set up in the Workflow Profile.

Method Query Example: {Workflow Profile Name}{Scenario Name}{Time Name}{Plug Account Override}{Suppress Matches Override}{Tolerance Override}{Filter} or {Flint}{Actual}{2011M1} {Empty String or A#MyPlugAccount}{Empty String or true/false}{Empty String or 0.0}{Empty String or Filter Expression}.

ICMatchingPlugAccountsforWorkflowUnit

This returns the list of Intercompany Plug Accounts for a given Workflow Profile and Scenario Type configured for the Workflow Profile.

Method Query Example: {*MyWorkflowProfileName*}{*Actual*}{2011M1}

{PlugAccount for Workflow Parameter Set (Exclude A#)}{Empty String

or C#MyCurrencyOverride}{Empty String or V#MyViewOverride}{Empty String or

A#MyPlugAccountOverride}{Empty String or true/false}{Empty String or 0.0}{Empty String or E#MyEntityOverride}{Empty String or E#MyPartnerOverride}{Empty String or MyDetailDimsOverride

(F#All:O#Top:U1#All:U2#All:U3#All:U4#All:U5#All:U6#All:U7#All:U8#All)}{Empty String or Filter Expression}

JournalforWorkflowUnit

This lists the Journals entered for a given Workflow Unit. Example Method Query: {*Workflow Profile Name*}{*Scenario Name*}{*Time Name*}{*Journal Status*} {*Filter*} or {*Frankfurt*}{*Actual*}{2011M3}{*All*}{

Members

This returns Dimension ID, Member information such as ID, Name and Description, and a few other properties for the chosen Dimension and Member Filter. Method Query Example: {*Account*}{*MyAccountDim*}{*A#Root.TreeDescendants*} {*Empty String or Filter Expression*}

UserCubeSliceRights

This lists each user's Data Access settings on a given Cube. Example Method Query: {UserName}{CubeName}{Filter} or {AllUsers}{AllCubes}{}.

UserEntityRights

This returns the Cubes and Entities the user has access to according to the security settings under Entities.

Example Method Query: {UserName}{CubeName}{Filter} or {US Clubs Controller}{AllCubes}{}.

Users

This returns all properties associated for the chosen User Name. Method Query Example: {*UserName* = '*Administrator*'}

UserScenarioRights

This returns all accessible Scenarios and many related Scenario properties for the chosen User Name filter and Cube. Method Query Example: {*AllUsers*}{*AllCubes*}{*Empty String or Filter Expression*}

UserinGroups

This returns a list of Users and selected User properties for the chosen User Group. Method Query Example: {*GroupName* = '*FinanceGroup*'}{

UserWorkflowProfileRights

This lists the rights assigned to users for Workflow Profiles. Example Method Query: {User Name}{Workflow Cube Name}{Workflow Profile Type}{Filter} or {Administrator}{GolfStream}{AllProfiles}{}.

WorkflowandEntityStatus

This returns properties for Workflow status, status code/description, last executed step, date/time information, completed steps, and data status for the chosen Workflow Unit including both the Workflow Profile level and individual Entity level.

Method Query Example: {*MyWorkflowProfileName*}{*Actual*}{2011M1} {*AllProfiles*}{*Descendants*}{*Empty String or Filter Expression*}

WorkflowCalculationEntities

This lists the Entities that appear under Calculation Definitions for this Workflow Profile.

WorkflowConfirmationEntites

This lists the Entities that appear under Calculation Definitions with a *Confirmed* check box for this Workflow Profile.

WorkflowProfileandDescendantEntities

This creates a list of Entities and all descendants located under Entity Assignment for this Workflow Profile.

WorkflowProfileEntities

This creates a list of Entities located under Entity Assignment for this Workflow Profile.

WorkflowProfileRelatives

This lists related Workflow Profiles based on certain criteria. Example Method Query: {Workflow Profile Name}{Scenario Name}{Time Name}{Workflow Profile Type}{Relative Type}{Include Requesting Profile}{Filter} or {GolfStream}{Actual}{2011M1} {AllProfiles}{Descendants}{true}{}.

WorkflowProfiles

This lists the Workflow Profiles. Example Method Query: {WorkflowProfileType}{Filter} or {AllProfiles}{Type = 'InputAdjChild'}.

WorkflowStatus

This lists the status, lock status and last step completed of a given Workflow Unit. Example Method Query: {Workflow Profile Name}{Scenario Name}{Time Name}{Workflow Profile Type}{Relative Type}{Filter} or {Houston}{Actual}{2011M1}{AllProfiles}{Descendants}{}

WorkflowStatusTwelvePeriod

This returns status value and text summary for 12 months for a given Workflow Profile, Scenario and Year. For Workflow Profile Type, options are *AllProfiles, CubeRoot, Default, Review, BaseInput, InputImportChild, InputFormsChild, InputAdjChild and ParentInput.* Method Query Example: {*MyWorkflowProfileName*}{*Actual*}{2011}{*AllProfiles*} {*Descendants*}{*Empty String or Filter Expression*}

Method Query

The query ran for this Data Adapter.

Results Table Name

This specifies the name of the resulting table generated when the Data Adapter is run, otherwise it will default with a name of *Table*.

Method Query Parameter Options

Workflow Profile Type

AllProfiles, AllProfilesExceptInputChild, AllProfilesWithTemplates, AllTemplates, BaseAndParentInputProfile, BaseInput, ClassStandardProfiles, ClassTemplateProfiles, CubeRoot, Default, InputAdjChild, InputChildren, InputFormsChild, InputImportChild, NonInputParentProfiles, ParentInput and Review.

Workflow Profile Relative Type

Ancestors, Descendants, FirstLevelChildren, Siblings and Unrelated.

Workflow Status or Forms Status

Completed, HasError, InProcess, NoStatus, NotExecuted and Unknown.

Journal Status

Approved, Posted, Rejected, Submitted

SQL

A SQL query against either the Application or Framework database can be written as a Data Source. Reference substitution variables such as |*WFProfile*| from within the SQL statement.

Database Location

Application

The current OneStream Application database where Stage and financial Cube data resides.

Framework

The connected OneStream Framework database where security and log data resides.

External

Any other database outside of OneStream.

External Database Connection

If *External* is the chosen *Database Location*, select the *External Database Connection* name here. This list is defined in the *OneStream Server Configuration Utility*.

SQL Query

The SQL statement ran for this Data Adapter.

Results Table List

This specifies the name of the resulting table generated when the Data Adapter is run, otherwise it will default with a name of *Table*.